2004

Macris and Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., Thomas E. Mower and Leslie D. Mower : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of the provisions of Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(j) (Rep.Vol. 9 2002).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court below err in granting the defendants' motion for a protective order and denying plaintiff's motion to compel discovery? Trial court rulings on motions to compel and for protective orders are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Park v. Case, 2001 UT App. 232. The issue was preserved by the parties' respective motions and memoranda. R. File #3 at 785-833.

2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment based upon plaintiff's failure to make a pretrial demonstration of its entitlement to relief? The grant of a motion for summary judgment is reviewed without deference to the trial court. Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., 2002 UT App. 406. The issue was preserved by plaintiff's memorandum in opposition to defendants' motion. R. File #3 at 1052-1066.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The present action was commenced in 1995 when Macris & Associates, Inc. sued Neways, Inc. and Thomas and Leslie Mower in an effort to set aside a fraudulent transfer. The complaint alleged that the Mowers caused one corporation they controlled, Images & Attitudes, Inc., to transfer all its assets to another corporation

they controlled, Neways, Inc., in an effort to place such assets beyond the reach of Macris, which then had a pending breach of contract claim against Images. The Macris claim against Images ultimately resulted in a judgment for Macris that was affirmed on appeal. See Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Images & Attitudes, Inc., 941 P.2d 636 (Utah App. 1997). The complaint in this case sought to make Neways and the Mowers liable for the claim against Images under three theories: fraudulent transfer, alter ego and successor corporation.

The defendants moved for summary judgment in this action, arguing that the judgment against Images barred this action under principles of res judicata as they could and should have been litigated in the prior action. The trial court granted summary judgment to the defendants and Macris appealed.

This Court reversed the ruling of the trial court, holding that the doctrine of claim preclusion was not a bar to this action. See Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., 1999 UT App. 230. Thereafter, the Supreme Court granted certiorari and affirmed in part and reversed in part. See Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., 2000 UT 93. The Supreme Court held that Macris' claims in this action were not barred by claim preclusion but also held that under the doctrine of issue preclusion the contract damages to which Macris was entitled would be limited to those established in the Macris v. Images trial.

Following remand to the trial court, Neways caused the judgment entered on Macris' behalf against Images to be satisfied. The defendants in the present action then moved for summary judgment, arguing that satisfaction of the judgment against Images rendered Macris' claim in this case moot. Macris resisted the motion as it pertained to the Mowers, arguing that the Mowers' conduct required Macris to bring suit against Neways to set aside the fraudulent transfer and that Macris' attorney fees in this action represented a consequential damage for which the Mowers should be liable and provided a basis for the imposition of possible punitive damages. The court granted the defendants' motion.

On appeal, this Court reversed. See Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., 2002 UT App. 406. This Court held that Macris may have an entitlement to attorney fees (and possibly punitive damages). This Court held that

in order to recover attorney fees under the third-party exception, Macris must also show that [this action] was a natural consequence of Image's breach and that it was necessary to bring this action. This is also a question of fact inappropriate for summary judgment.

(Emphasis added.)

Following remand, Macris served discovery requests upon defendants, essentially seeking to have defendants acknowledge that in 1992 the Mowers caused Images to transfer all its assets to Neways in exchange for no consideration, thereby

rendering Images incapable of satisfying any judgment rendered against it. These requests are set forth in the addendum hereto.

Defendants responded to each discovery request with an identical objection and no other response.

Defendants object to this interrogatory as irrelevant and not likely to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. This action has been remanded to the District Court by the Court of Appeals for the express purpose of reaching a determination as to the propriety of awarding Plaintiff attorney fees against Defendants under the third-party litigation exception to the general rule that attorney fees are not recoverable in an action for breach of contract unless expressly provided for in the contract. In order to make this determination, Plaintiff must show that this action "was a natural consequence of Image's breach and that it was necessary to bring the action." Macris & Assoc. v. Neways, Inc., 60 P.3d 1176 (Utah Ct. App. 2002). Unless and until Plaintiff can show that this action was necessary in order to collect the judgment against Images and that plaintiff incurred attorney fees in pursuing the debt against Images, the parties do not need to address successor liability, alter ego liability, and/or fraudulent conveyance. Because Plaintiff has not yet shown that attorney fees were accrued in pursuing the judgment against Images, the issues of successor and alter ego liability and fraudulent conveyance that are addressed in this interrogatory are irrelevant and not likely to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

R. File #3 at 829.

Following this objection, Macris moved to compel and defendants sought a protective order barring any discovery. The trial court denied Macris' motion and

granted the defendants' motion, ruling that the discovery requests were "premature and may be unnecessary." R. File #3 at 860.

Thereafter, defendants filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that they were entitled to summary judgment because Macris had failed to come forward with affirmative evidence that this action was made necessary by the alleged fraudulent transfer.

Macris resisted the motion, arguing that the allegations of the complaint (which were un rebutted) and the history of the parties' litigation raised a reasonable inference that this action was necessary to pursue satisfaction of its claim, which inference could not be rejected on a motion for summary judgment. The trial court granted defendants' motion.

The evidence relied on by defendants in seeking summary judgment was the fact that Macris first made written demand on Images for satisfaction of the judgment on February 1, 2001 and the judgment was satisfied on February 16, 2001. R. File #3 at 885. These facts, coupled with Macris' failure to provide additional evidence in response to defendants' motion, were the basis upon which defendants argued an entitlement to judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Macris' theory of why this action was necessary to recover on its claim against Images is very simple: by transferring all its assets to Neways, Images had

rendered itself unable to respond to Macris' claim and Macris needed to set aside that transfer to have Images' assets restored to it. In seeking to prove that Images fraudulently transferred all its assets, Macris propounded simple discovery requests inquiring into what was transferred, what was paid for it, and what assets were retained by Images. The defendants' argument, and the trial court's ruling, that defendants were not required to respond to such requests until Macris produced affirmative evidence, from sources other than the defendants, that this action was a necessary consequence of Images fraudulent transfer is both illogical and without support in the law.

After denying Macris the opportunity to obtain pretrial proof of its claim from the defendants, the lower court compounded its error by granting summary judgment to defendants even though defendants offered no evidence whatsoever to rebut the allegations of plaintiff's complaint. Neways presented no evidence that the transfer it received from Images wasn't fraudulent or that it had the ability to satisfy Macris' claim. Despite this failure, Neways and the Mowers were granted summary judgment on the theory that Macris had some obligation to produce evidence, prior to trial, showing a prima facie entitlement to recovery. This ruling has no support in the law of Utah or any other jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. The Court Below Abused Its Discretion In Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Discovery.

Under Utah law, it is axiomatic that the discovery rules are to be interpreted liberally to permit discovery. As the Utah Supreme Court stated in State Road Comm'n v. Petty, 17 Utah 2d 382, 412 P.2d 914 (Utah 1966),

A primary purpose of the new Rules of civil Procedure was to simplify procedures and to "secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." One of the means of accomplishing this is to permit discovery of information which will aid in eliminating noncontroversial matters, and in identifying, narrowing and clarifying the issues on which contest may prove to be necessary. Insofar as discovery will serve this purpose it should be liberally permitted.

412 P.2d at 917.

In the instant case, Macris sought discovery from the defendants designed to establish that Images fraudulently transferred its assets to Neways, that Images and Neways were both the alter egos of the Mowers, that Neways was the successor corporation of Images and that Images retained no assets with which it could satisfy Macris' claim. For example, interrogatory number 13 asked: "What assets owned by Images & Attitudes as of August 30, 1992, were not acquired by Neways, Inc. pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 1992?"

While acknowledging that the discovery requests were relevant to the three causes of action of plaintiff's complaint, defendants asserted that they need not respond

to such relevant inquiries "unless and until" Macris could demonstrate this action was necessary to recover on its claim against Images. This novel proposition, with which the court below agreed, was supported by no citation of authority and for good reason: there is none. Plaintiff is aware of no authority for the proposition that a plaintiff must make a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief before being permitted to conduct discovery.

Rule 26(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in relevant part, that

[parties] may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action, whether it relates to the claim or defense of the party seeking discovery or to the claim or defense of any other party, including the existence, description, matters, custody, condition and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things and the identity and location of persons having knowledge of any discoverable matter.

The rule does not condition the right to discovery on some preliminary evidentiary showing of an entitlement to relief, nor has any appellate court ever so construed it. Indeed, both the Utah Supreme Court and several federal courts have held that the obligation to respond to discovery is not removed because a defendant has filed a motion to dismiss the complaint as legally insufficient to state a claim. In Schmitt v. Billings, 600 P.2d 516 (Utah 1979), the Court held that the pendency of a motion to dismiss did not relieve the defendants from their obligation to respond to discovery.

The court granted judgment to the plaintiff for the defendants' failure to timely respond to requests for admission even though they had moved to dismiss the complaint. See also, Lipsky v. Commonwealth United Corp., 551 F.2d 887 (2d Cir. 1976); Alexander v. F.B.I., 194 F.R.D. 316 (D. D.C. 2000).

If a party is entitled to discovery without even demonstrating that its complaint states a claim for relief, it can hardly be questioned that a party is entitled to discovery without first providing an evidentiary basis for its claim.

The irony the ruling of the court below is that it deprived Macris from obtaining the very species of evidence the court felt it needed to provide to support its claim. Macris' theory of why the action against Neways was necessary to recovery on its claim against Images was simple: Images transferred all its assets to Neways and had nothing left from which the claim could be satisfied. If that transfer was fraudulent (as alleged), it could be set aside and the assets looked to for recovery. However, the court refused to require the defendants to say what they paid for the assets transferred or what Images had left following the transfer. Truthful responses to such questions would have revealed exactly why this suit was made necessary by the fraudulent transfer.

The suggestion that a party should not have to respond to discovery until the court is convinced of the merits of the plaintiff's claim is inconsistent with the whole

purpose of the rules of discovery. As this Court said in Roundy v. Staley, 984 P.2d 404, 407 (Utah App. 1999), the

purpose [of Utah's discovery rules] is to make procedure as simple and efficient as possible by eliminating any useless ritual, undue rigidities or technicalities which may have become engrafted in our law; and to remove elements of surprise or trickery so the parties and the court can determine the facts and resolve the issues as directly, fairly and expeditiously as possible.

984 P.2d at 407 (quoting Ellis v. Gilbert, 429 P.2d 39, 40 (Utah 1967)).

This purpose is directly inconsistent with a ruling that no discovery could be had on plaintiff's claims "unless and until" plaintiff had made an evidentiary showing sufficient to satisfy the court of its likelihood of prevailing on the merits. That is a requirement unknown to modern discovery procedure and constitutes an abuse of the court's discretion.

As this Court has previously held, a court's error in failing to require discovery is presumed to have been prejudicial and mandates reversal. In Askew v. Hardman, 884 P.2d 1258 (Utah App. 1994), reversed on other grounds, 918 P.2d 469 (Utah 1996), this Court stated that

[p]rejudice is presumed because to require the requesting party to show the error was harmful would place the requesting party in the untenable position of having to demonstrate that the contents of inaccessible information would have affected the outcome of the case. Because the requesting party does not have the information, he or she will never be able to demonstrate that the trial court's erroneous denial of a discovery request was anything but

harmless. The burden of demonstrating that the erroneous denial of a discovery request was not prejudicial must therefore rest with the party resisting discovery.

884 P.2d at 1262-63.

Accordingly, the judgment rendered below must be reversed.

POINT II. The Court Below Erred in Granting Summary Judgment.

The court below erred in granting summary judgment by placing an affirmative duty upon the plaintiff to offer evidence in support of its complaint when the law does not contain such a requirement and by failing to recognize that the undisputed facts in this case give rise to competing inferences which can only be resolved by the fact finder.

The complaint alleged that Images fraudulently transferred its assets to Neways and was incapable of satisfying Macris' claim for breach of contract. The defendants have offered no evidence to the contrary. The undisputed facts are that Macris obtained judgment against Images in 1995. It was not paid, despite Macris' efforts to locate assets to execute upon. Thereafter, the court held that Neways was bound by the judgment and Macris garnished Neways' bank accounts. To obtain a release of the garnishments, Neways posted a bond pending its appeal of the trial court's ruling. This occurred in 1997. The case proceeded to this Court and then the Supreme Court. In each court Neways argued it had no liability for the judgment. In December of 2000, the court held that Neways may be liable to Macris but reversed the

trial court's decision that it was in privity with Images, holding a question of fact to be present. After Neways' argument that it couldn't be held liable for the judgment against Images was rejected, the judgment was paid by a check drawn on Bank One which showed "Neways International, Inc." as the remitter of the check. R. File #3 at 882-90.

Macris suggests that the inference to be drawn from these facts is simple: when confronted with potential liability for receiving a fraudulent transfer (a charge it has never sought to refute), Neways saw the handwriting on the wall and paid up to avoid ongoing litigation expenses.

The defendants suggest a different inference. Pointing to the evidence that counsel for Macris wrote to counsel for Images, a Neways' employee, and demanded payment of the judgment, which was satisfied within two weeks thereafter, defendants suggest it can be inferred that if Macris had simply asked Images to pay the judgment it would have done so without the need to sue Neways.

Under the undisputed facts, the court below erred in granting summary for two reasons. First, in moving for summary judgment, defendants failed to meet their burden under Rule 56 of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to establish the lack of a genuine issue of material fact. Second, the court ignored the inference available under the evidence which was favorable to the plaintiff's position, which it was improper to do.

In reviewing defendants' motion for summary judgment it is apparent that the defendants offered no evidence that the Images judgment would have been paid without the need for the Neways litigation. Indeed, they concede that they have no such evidence. "[T]he parties will never know if the Images' judgment would have been satisfied because Macris failed to make a demand after judgment was entered." Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 5 R. File #3 1072.

Before a party moving for summary judgment can require the nonmoving party to produce evidence in support of the allegations of its complaint, the moving party must meet its burden of demonstrating the lack of a genuine issue of material fact. If it fails to do so the nonmoving party has no duty to present any evidence.

This principle was enunciated in the landmark United States Supreme Court case of Adickes v. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144 (1970). In Adickes, the plaintiff alleged that her civil rights had been violated as a result of a conspiracy between Kress and the city police. She alleged that she was denied service in a restaurant because she was in a racially mixed group. She alleged that when she was refused service there was a policeman in the store who subsequently arrested her outside the store for vagrancy.

The defendant moved for summary judgment on the conspiracy claim, arguing that the plaintiff had no evidence of any conspiracy. The District Court granted the motion and the Court of Appeals affirmed. The Supreme Court, however, reversed. The court held that because the defendants had failed to meet their burden as

the moving party, plaintiff was under no duty to produce anything in opposition to the motion for summary judgment.

As the moving party, respondent had the burden of showing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, and for these purposes the material it lodged must be viewed in the light most favorable to the opposing party.

398 U.S. at 157.

After noting that the defendants had failed to negate with any evidence the allegation that an officer was present when the refusal to serve occurred, or therefore the inference that it was at his direction, the court noted that Rule 56(e) places no affirmative duty on the nonmoving party if the moving party has not met its burden.

[B]oth the commentary and background of the 1963 amendment conclusively shows that it was not intended to modify the burden of the moving party under Rule 56(c) to show initially the absence a genuine issue concerning any material fact. The Advisory Committee note on the amendment states that the changes were not designed to "affect the ordinary standard applicable to summary judgment." And, in a comment directed specifically to a contention like respondents, the Committee stated that "[w]here the evidentiary matter in support of the motion does not establish the absence of a genuine issue, summary judgment must be denied even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented."

398 U.S. at 159-60. (Emphasis in original).

In the instant case, the defendants presented no evidence that Images had the capability of paying the claim of Macris. In the absence of such evidence they did not

meet their burden of negating a genuine issue of fact and Macris had no obligation to present any evidence on that point.

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