2004

Macris & Associates, Inc. v. Neways, Inc., Thomas E. Mower, Leslie D. Mower : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the district court aptly stated, "this action is far too old, and should be resolved." (R. 859.) Once again, however, Macris appeals the district court's ruling, arguing that the court erred in limiting the scope of discovery and in bifurcating the issue of whether this lawsuit was a "necessary" consequence of Images' alleged actions. Properly exercising its broad discretion in discovery matters, the district court concluded that Macris's discovery requests exceeded the narrow issue before the court, i.e., whether this action was necessary. The district court committed no error of law and did not base its decision on a lack of evidence. Accordingly, the order was proper.

Even if this Court were to determine that the discovery order was in error, Macris suffered no harm because of the court's ruling. The district court ultimately granted summary judgment to Neways and the Mowers because Macris failed to produce any evidence showing that this action was necessary. It is undisputed that, before February 2001, Macris never demanded that the Images Judgment be satisfied. Also, the record reflects that Macris had evidence that it previously obtained in this action and in *Macris I* that could possibly have been used in an attempt to create a factual issue on summary judgment. Macris, however, failed to present any of this evidence. Accordingly, any error in the district court's discovery order was harmless.

Macris erroneously argues that Neways and the Mowers were required to come forward with evidence to negate the elements of Macris's claim for consequential damages. To the contrary, Neways and the Mowers met their initial burden by showing that there was a lack of evidence to support an essential element of Macris's claim on which it had the burden of proof: that this action was necessary. Also, as set forth above, Macris failed to avail itself of the evidence in the record in an attempt to create a factual issue on summary judgment. Thus, the district court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Neways and the Mowers. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's orders and bring this ten-year-old case to a close.

ARGUMENT

I. MACRIS HAS FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO BIFURCATE AND IN DENYING THE MOTION TO COMPEL.

On March 1, 2004, the district court entered an order stating as follows:

The Court hereby bifurcates the issue of whether Macris II was a natural consequence of the Images breach and, therefore, necessary to obtain satisfaction of judgment, and this issue shall be tried before other issues, if any, in this case.

(R. 867-869.) Macris argues that the district court erred when it (1) bifurcated the issue of whether *Macris II* “was a natural consequence of” Images’s alleged conduct and (2) denied Macris’s motion to compel discovery.³ A district court has “broad latitude in handling discovery matters.” *R & R Energies v. Mother Earth Indus., Inc.*, 936 P.2d 1068, 1079 (Utah 1997). “An appellate court will not find abuse of discretion absent an erroneous conclusion of law or where there is no evidentiary basis for the trial court to rule on.” *Askew v. Hardman*, 918 P.2d 469, 472 (Utah 1996). Also, in deciding discovery matters, the district court may “decide controverted factual issues,” “draw inferences where conflicting inferences are possible,” and “weigh competing interests.” *Id.* (citation omitted). “The propriety of an interrogatory or other discovery is primarily for the trial court to determine.” *State Road Comm’n v. Petty*, 412 P.2d 914, 918 (Utah

³ As this Court previously noted, Macris does not have a direct claim against Neways or the Mowers under the third-party litigation exception. *Macris & Assocs.*, 2002 UT App, 406, ¶ 19.

1966). “The district court is in an advantaged position in proximity to all aspects of the lawsuit,” and it is therefore “practical and desirable that he be allowed considerable latitude of discretion in his rulings thereon.” *Id.* Because Macris has failed to meet its burden to show that the district court made any erroneous conclusion of law, or that there was no evidentiary basis for the ruling, the order denying the motion to compel should be affirmed.

A. The District Court Did Not Make Any Errors of Law or Base Its Decision On a Lack of Evidence.

“The district court is entrusted with broad discretion in dealing with discovery matters, [including] protective orders.” *In re Discipline of Pendleton*, 2000 UT 77, ¶ 38, 11 P.3d 284. Under Rule 26(b)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the district court has discretion to limit the use of discovery if “the discovery is unduly burdensome or expensive, taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in controversy, limitations on the parties’ resources and the importance of the issues at stake in the litigation.” Also, the court may enter a protective order requiring “that certain matters not be inquired into, or that the scope of the discovery be limited to certain matters.” Utah R. Civ. P. 26(c)(4). Finally, bifurcation is an issue within the sound discretion of the district court. *See Parker v. Parker*, 2000 UT App 30, ¶ 5, 996 P.2d 565.

In its brief, Macris argues that the district court concluded that Macris must “make a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief before being permitted to conduct discovery.” (Brief of Appellant [“Applnt. Br.”] at 8; emphasis in original.) Macris,

however, points to no record citation showing that the district court made such a determination. In fact, by failing to request the transcript of the district court's hearing on the motion to compel, Macris has failed to ensure an adequate record on appeal. In the absence of a transcript, this Court will "assume the regularity of the proceedings below." *State v. Litherland*, 2000 UT 76, ¶ 11, 12 P.3d 92 (citation omitted).

In any event, the district court properly denied the motion to compel because Macris's discovery requests did not address the issue of whether this action had to be filed in February 1995 as a result of Images's alleged wrongful conduct.⁴ For instance, in its interrogatories, Macris inquired about "the total value of the assets owned by Neways, Inc. as of August 30, 1992." (R. 827.) Also, Macris asked about the assets of Images as of August 30, 1992, that were not acquired by Neways in August 1992. (*Id.*) The district court exercised its discretion to limit inquiry into these matters because they did not directly address the narrow issue on remand: whether it was necessary for Macris to file this action in February 1995 because of Images's alleged wrongful conduct. The district court concluded that, based on the limited scope of issues on remand and on Macris's undisputed failure to make a demand for payment on Images until February 2001, Macris's discovery requests went too far afield and did not bear on whether the action

⁴ At the time this action was filed, the trial in *Macris I* had not yet begun. Thus, this action was not necessary at the time it was filed because Macris did not yet have a judgment against Images. (Statement of Facts, ¶ 3.)

was necessary. (R. 853.) Thus, Macris has failed to show that the district court committed error. *See Askew*, 918 P.2d at 472.

To prove that this action was necessary, Macris was required to establish that Images's alleged wrongful conduct was the proximate cause of this lawsuit. *See South Sandpitch Co. v. Pack*, 765 P.2d 1279, 1283 (Utah 1988) (stating that fees are not recoverable "on causes of action not proximately necessitated by that defendant's negligence"). The necessity of filing this action cannot be proven merely by showing that Images had little or no assets in August 1992, over three years before the Images Judgment was entered. Indeed, even if Macris could prove that Images fraudulently transferred its assets, that fact alone would not establish that this action was "necessary," particularly because Macris never demanded payment of the Images Judgment until February 2001. *See Sanner v. Poli*, 298 B.R. 557, 564 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2003) (stating that even though party had breached real estate purchase contract, that breach did not cause any litigation with a third party). The question of whether the "party sought to be charged with the fees was guilty of a wrongful or negligent act" is a separate issue from whether the third-party litigation was "the natural and necessary consequence[] of the defendant's act, since remote, uncertain, and contingent consequences do not afford a basis for recovery." *Uyemura v. Wick*, 551 P.2d 171, 176 (Haw. 1976). Thus, Macris must still prove the element of "causation" to recover attorneys' fees as consequential damages. *Pack*, 765 P.2d at 1283.

In its unique position, the district court was aware of the long procedural history of this action and what had been done to move the case forward. (R. 859.) The district court was aware that if Macris had intended to recover attorneys' fees when it filed this action, Macris should have made efforts early in the case to establish that this action was necessary, such as by requiring Images to appear in a supplemental proceeding to testify regarding its assets.⁵ Based on these factors, the district court exercised its broad discretion to bifurcate the case and limit the scope of discovery to the issue of whether this action was proximately caused, and made "necessary," by Images's alleged wrongful conduct. *See id.* The district court's discovery order was not based on an erroneous view of the law or on a lack of evidence. Thus, the discovery order should be affirmed. *See Askew*, 918 P.2d at 472.

B. Macris Suffered No Prejudice By the Court's Ruling.

Even if this Court were to determine that the district court committed some error in its discovery order, the district court's denial of the motion to compel was harmless. An error is "harmless" if there is "no reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings." *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 796-97 (Utah 1991). As set forth more fully below, the district court's ultimate decision to dismiss this case was supported by Macris's failure to have demanded payment of the Images

⁵ Indeed, this Court pointed out that Macris did not ask for attorneys' fees in its Complaint against Neways. 2002 UT App 406, ¶ 8, n.7.

Judgment until February 2001, well after this action was filed. Moreover, Macris failed to avail itself of post-judgment remedies against Images that would have been beneficial in determining Images's willingness and ability to pay the Images Judgment in September 1995. As stated in Leslie D. Mower's Affidavit dated November 21, 1995, "Neways did not purchase all the assets of Images." (R. 352.) After obtaining the Images Judgment, however, Macris never sought an order in supplemental proceedings requiring Images to appear and testify about the assets that it had at that time. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 69(o). Instead, Macris served writs of garnishment on Neways in an attempt to garnish Images's funds allegedly held by Neways. Macris never attempted to garnish any of Images's bank accounts. Thus, no amount of discovery could have cured Macris's prior failure to investigate Images's ability to satisfy the Images Judgment from September 1995, when the Images Judgment was entered, until February 2001, when the Images Judgment was paid within fifteen days after demand.

In addition, in as early as 1995, Macris had already conducted discovery in this action regarding the alleged sale of Images's assets.⁶ On August 28, 1995, counsel for Macris took the deposition of Richard L. Halliday, in which the deponent was asked about the transfer of assets to Neways, among other topics. (R. 241.) In addition, Tom

⁶ Macris had the opportunity to conduct discovery in this action from February 1995 to February 1996, when the district court stayed the case pending the appeal in *Macris I*. Also, there were several months in 1997 and in 2001, when the district court had jurisdiction over this case, when Macris could have conducted discovery.

Mower stated in an Affidavit that he had been deposed in *Macris I* on the topics of “Neways, its creation, and the sale of Images assets to Neways.” (R. 231.) Thus, Macris already had evidence potentially relating to the alleged fraudulent transfer that it could have used in an attempt to defeat Neways’s motion for summary judgment.⁷ Ultimately, Macris failed to marshal the available evidence in an attempt to create a factual issue to prevent summary judgment. Thus, any error of the district court in its interlocutory order denying the motion to compel was harmless.⁸

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF NEWAYS AND THE MOWERS.

Macris argues that, in considering Neways’s motion for summary judgment, the district court erroneously required Macris to come forward with evidence to support its

⁷ In noting that Macris may already have had evidence that it could have produced in response to the motion for summary judgment, Neways and the Mowers do not concede that such evidence would have been sufficient to create a factual issue. Rather, Neways and the Mowers refer to these record citations to show that Macris apparently had *some* evidence that may have related to its fraudulent-transfer claim. It was *Macris’s* burden to present that evidence to the district court in response to the motion for summary judgment. Utah R. Civ. P. 7(c)(3)(B). Macris failed to do so, however, and summary judgment was properly entered. *Id.*

⁸ Macris erroneously argues that a “court’s error in failing to require discovery is presumed to have been prejudicial and mandates reversal.” In *Askew v. Hardman*, 884 P.2d 1258 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), *rev’d on other grounds*, 918 P.2d 469 (Utah 1996), this Court stated that the burden is on the party resisting discovery to prove that an error was harmless. This Court never stated, however, that reversal is *mandated* in such circumstances. In *Askew*, the defendant had “not demonstrated that the denial of Plaintiff’s discovery request was not prejudicial.” *Id.* at 1263. By contrast, Neways has met its burden to present sufficient evidence to show that any error committed by the district court in denying the motion to compel was harmless.

claim that this action was necessary. Macris argues that “defendants offered no evidence that the Images judgment would have been paid without the need for the Neways litigation.” (Applnt. Br. at 13.) Macris’s arguments turn the evidentiary burden of proof on its head. Neways did not have the burden to show that the Images Judgment “would have been paid” even if this action had not been filed. Rather, as the party seeking attorneys’ fees as consequential damages for Images’s alleged wrongful conduct, Macris had the burden to prove that this action was necessary. *Macris & Assocs.*, 2002 UT App 406, ¶ 22 (stating that, to recover under the third-party litigation exception, Macris must prove the elements of the exception); *see also Lovett v. Estate of Lovett*, 593 A.2d 382, 389 (N.J. Super. 1991) (noting that it is “plaintiff’s burden” to prove causation under the third-party litigation exception).

A. Neways and the Mowers Were Not Required to Produce Affirmative Evidence to Negate Macris’s Claims.

In its brief, Macris relies heavily on *Adickes v. Kress & Co.*, 398 U.S. 144 (1970), for the proposition that, to defeat summary judgment, Macris was not required to produce any evidence to support its claims. The proper scope of the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in *Adickes* was discussed in *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986). There, the Supreme Court determined that there is “no express or implied requirement in Rule 56 that the moving party support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials *negating* the opponent’s claim.” *Id.* at 322. The Court clarified that *Adickes* should not be “construed to mean that the burden is on the party moving for summary judgment to

produce evidence showing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, even with respect to an issue on which the non-moving party bears the burden of proof.” *Id.* at 325. Instead, the Court stated that the “burden on the moving party may be discharged by ‘showing’ – that is, pointing out to the district court – that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-moving party’s case.” *Id.* The Court emphasized that one of the principal purposes of Rule 56 “is to isolate and dispose of factually unsupported claims or defenses, and we think it should be interpreted in a way that allows it to accomplish this purpose.” *Id.* at 323; *see also Reagan Outdoor Advert., Inc. v. Lundgren*, 692 P.2d 776, 779 (Utah 1984) (stating that a major purpose of summary judgment is “to avoid unnecessary trial by allowing the parties to pierce the pleadings to determine whether there is a genuine issue to present to the fact finder”).

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